FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
4/17/2020 12:36 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/20/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Supreme Ct. No. <u>98434-4</u>

(Court of Appeals No. 79490-6-I)

UNITED STATES FIDELITY AND GUARANTY COMPANY,

Petitioner,

v.

ROBERT T. ULBRICHT, ET. AL,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

DAVIS WRIGHT TREMAINE LLP

Steven P. Caplow, WSBA #19843 Everett W. Jack, Jr., WSBA #47076 Attorneys for United States Fidelity and Guaranty Company

920 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3300 Seattle, WA 98104-1610 (206) 622-3150 Phone (206) 757-7700 Fax

Email: stevencaplow@dwt.com

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The party seeking review is appellant United States Fidelity and Guaranty Company.

II. STATEMENT OF DECISION

On February 10, 2020, Division I of the Court of Appeals issued its decision affirming the decision of the trial court. On March 20, 2020, the Court of Appeals denied USFG's motion for reconsideration and plaintiffs' motion for publication.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether it is proper for the trial court to contemplate the costs and risks involved in the future insurance coverage litigation when evaluating the reasonableness of the proposed covenant judgment.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Parties and Claims

The plaintiff in this matter, Robert Ulbricht, was exposed to asbestos throughout his working life. CP 64, 67-68, 70-71. Following his November 2017 diagnosis of mesothelioma, he filed a claim with the Department of Veterans Affairs based on asbestos exposure during the years he served in the Air Force. CP 73, 306, 360-65. He and his wife also filed a complaint against 19 defendants alleging exposure to asbestos while working at a Texaco oil refinery in Anacortes, Washington. CP 1-5. Later amendments to the complaint added another defendant and his children as co-plaintiffs. CP 6-10. Among these defendants was PM Northwest, who was one of a number of contractors (including companies such as Bechtel), that occasionally worked at the Texaco site. CP 374 at 77:4-24, 1008-09 at 73:10-25, 77:4-9.

Northwest to his exposure to asbestos, through expert testimony, he could establish a link. Ulbricht also believed that because decades' old PM Northwest records had suffered water damage, he could establish liability based on spoliation of evidence. Further, he was confident that on discretionary review, the Court of Appeals would uphold the trial court's ruling barring recovery under the statute of repose. PM Northwest's counsel thought Ulbricht's causation expert was out on a limb, the spoliation argument meritless, and that based on his prior success in representing insulation contractors the statute of repose was a strong and valid defense.

B. Plaintiffs' "Ridiculous" \$3.5 Million Settlement Demand

On July 9, 2018, plaintiffs sent PM Northwest a settlement demand for \$3.5 million.¹ PM Northwest's counsel considered this demand so "high" and "ridiculous" he did not even recommend that PM Northwest make a counter-offer. CP 780; CP 782 at 90:21-24. In fact, PM Northwest's counsel testified that he did not even consider the \$3.5 million a "real demand." CP 780 at 82:2-7. Counsel for PM Northwest, guided in his thinking based on decades of experience litigating asbestos cases to trial, many to defense verdicts, believed a reasonable settlement for this claim would not exceed \$2 million. CP 782. Independent of the

¹ This far exceeds USF&G's alleged policy limits of \$2.5 million, which have now been tendered to plaintiffs.

merits, PM Northwest's counsel testified that PM Northwest had limited assets and could not pay more than \$1 million.² CP 484.

On July 18, 2018, Plaintiffs and PM Northwest participated in mediation, along with the other remaining defendants. CP 866. Between the July 18 mediation and the end of July, 2018, all of the defendants, other than PM Northwest, settled with or were dismissed from the case by Plaintiffs. CP 894-95. Twelve of the 20 defendants paid money to settle Plaintiffs' claims against them, and those twelve defendants paid a combined total of \$1,523,000, an average of about \$125,000 per defendant. CP 838 at 70:4-5, CP 895. The other eight defendants were dismissed without paying anything to Plaintiffs. Had the case gone to trial, PM Northwest would have been entitled to set-off for the \$1.5 million plaintiffs had already received from the other settling defendants. CP 702-03.

C. Parties' \$4.5 Million Covenant Judgment

On Thursday, July 26, 2018, roughly a week after the failed mediation, Plaintiffs' counsel, Matthew Bergman ("Bergman"), reached out to PM Northwest's counsel, David Shaw ("Shaw") to see if PM Northwest had any interest in discussing settlement before trial and Bergman's upcoming vacation. CP 796. Five days later, on Wednesday,

² See Aspen Grove Owners Ass'n v. Park Promenade Apartments, LLC, 842 F. Supp. 2d 1298, 1303 (W.D. Wash. 2012) (agreement to a covenant judgment in an amount that the defendant would have no ability to pay is a "strong indication of unreasonableness").

August 1, 2018, Shaw responded, and Bergman and Shaw met for drinks later that afternoon at Fadó, a bar in downtown Seattle. CP 798-99. At that point, the parties were no longer negotiating.³ CP 700. Bergman set the new settlement amount at \$4.5 million with a covenant not to execute, and PM Northwest's counsel promptly agreed without consulting his client, or even "discuss[ing] the actual number." CP 792 at 117:22-23. PM Northwest's counsel explained, without any obligation to pay, the amount simply was no longer a relevant consideration to his client. CP 792-93 at 117:20-118:1 ("He was getting ought [sic], and that's all he cared about.").

In papers submitted to the trial court for approval of the covenant judgment, plaintiffs explained why—even though the earlier \$3.5 million proposal to PM Northwest had been rejected as "ridiculous"—Bergman increased the settlement amount to an even higher sum:

When the prospect of resolution through covenant judgment arose, Mr. Bergman made clear that Plaintiffs would be assuming a significant risk by 'trading one litigation for the other' against PM Northwest's insurers. Thus, Mr. Bergman demanded \$4.5 million for the covenant judgment to ameliorate that risk and fairly compensate Plaintiffs' for their loss.

³ The parties' exchange here was in no way exceptional, and is exactly why the Courts are obligated to conduct a reasonableness hearing with regard to covenant judgment settlements. *Merriman v. Bernd*, No. 13-2-00504-1 (Yakima Sup. Ct. May 2, 2004), CP 939-62 (courts recognize that by its very nature, there is no incentive for a defendant "negotiating" a covenant judgment to limit the monetary judgment).

CP 503.

In Conclusion of Law 23, the trial court agreed with plaintiffs that the risks and costs of potential future insurance coverage litigation "justifies a larger covenant judgment amount than would be reasonable" to otherwise settle the underlying case. CP 1199. The trial court agreement that the amount that "would be reasonable" to settle the underlying case should be increased for covenant judgments sets a new standard because by their very their nature, covenant judgments involve a subsequent claim for insurance coverage. In short, the Court improperly created a new criterion to evaluate whether the settlement amount underlying the covenant judgment was reasonable—the extent that the covenant judgment will involve future litigation costs.

On appeal, the court of appeals affirmed, ruling it is "proper for the trial [court] to contemplate the risks and costs involved [in the 'future bad faith litigation'] when evaluating the reasonableness of the proposed covenant judgment." Op. at 10. Even plaintiffs acknowledge that this is the "first time that the 'risks of continued litigation' factor encompasses the risks of future litigation faced by plaintiff." Hayes Decl. ¶ 5; see also Pl. Mot. to Pub. at 4.

-

⁴ In addition to the legal defects addressed by this petition, as a factual matter, the premise is dubious. PM Northwest could not pay a judgment in excess of \$1 million. CP 484. Plaintiffs have already received \$2.5 million from USF&G (plus \$1.5 million from other defendants). Pursuing a coverage action against USF&G actually reduces collection risk.

D. Post-Opinion, Plaintiffs Demand Upfront Payment of the Entire Judgment, including the Risk/Cost of Future Coverage Litigation

At every stage of this case, plaintiffs insisted that including the costs of future insurance coverage litigation in arriving at the approved settlement amount of the underlying case would not result in a double recovery. Yet, two days after the Court of Appeal's Opinion issued, plaintiffs sent USF&G an Insurance Fair Conduct Act (IFCA) notice demanding payment of the entire \$4.5 million consent judgment, plus 5.25% interest.⁵ Plaintiffs further warned USF&G that unless it immediately paid the consent judgment in full (which includes the future cost of pursuing the insurance coverage litigation) USF&G would be subject to all remedies provided for in the statute (which includes the costs to pursue the insurance coverage litigation). Ex. 1 to USF&G Mot. for Recons. The notice belies plaintiffs' assurances in obtaining approval of the covenant judgment amount, and that the future insurance recovery action would not award the litigation costs for the insurance recovery action twice.

⁵ This situation placed USF&G in an untenable situation: it must either pay the full amount and provide the plaintiff a windfall that includes recovery of litigation costs that were never incurred, or contest coverage and make the additur to the actual damages a self-fulfilling prophesy. Accordingly, as required by Washington law, USF&G has initiated a declaratory judgment action, but offered to stay such action pending the appeal.

V. ARGUMENT

The parties know that to the extent the covenant judgment is collectible, it will be against an insurance company and for that reason the settlement of the underlying claim must be reasonable as it will establish the presumptive value of the *underlying claim* for purposes of the future coverage action. Plaintiffs' IFCA notice demonstrates the legal error of lumping together as "actual damages" (i) the defendants' cost of achieving a reasonable settlement in the underlying case, with (ii) the plaintiffs' ability to recover attorney fees as a prevailing party in any future insurance coverage action. As a matter of due process and judicial administration, courts do not pre-adjudicate matters and award as reasonable sums that are at issue in a future case. Particularly when Washington common law and statute requires the judge assigned to future insurance coverage action to consider an award of these same costs.

A. Future Risk/Costs Are Not Actual Damages

A party cannot recover as "actual damages" the potential additional cost/risk of collection on a judgment. This is particularly true for a covenant judgment. The entire purpose of the reasonableness finding in this context is to make sure that the covenant judgment amount fairly values the underlying case—because this amount becomes the presumptive "damages" for which insurance coverage will be sought in the later insurance coverage action. *Besel v. Viking Ins. Co. of Wis.*, 146 Wn.2d 730, 738, 49 P.3d 887 (2002). As a matter of law, "the term 'actual damages,' as used in IFCA and the CPA, does not include

attorneys' fees or other litigation costs." *Schreib v. Am. Family Mut. Ins. Co.*, 129 F. Supp. 3d 1129, 1141 (W.D. Wash. 2015). But even outside the IFCA context, no court allows a party to recover as actual damages included within a judgment, the potential additional cost/risk of collecting on the judgment.

B. The Award of Future Collection Costs as Actual Damages Is Unprecedented

As the Ulbricht plaintiffs belatedly concede, the award of future insurance coverage fees/costs as part of defendant's damages is unprecedented and contrary to existing law. Hayes Decl. ¶ 5. Without exception, cases that address the fifth Glover factor ("risk and expense of continued litigation") do so exclusively with reference to the continuation of the underlying case, not a future collection action or future insurance coverage action. Indeed, in the seminal Chaussee decision, the Court of Appeals ruled that a settlement within the range of jury verdicts was unreasonable because this "determination did not take into consideration the risk and cost of proceeding to trial [i.e., in the underlying case] . . . which may serve to *reduce* the amount of a settlement." *Chaussee v.* Maryland Cas. Co., 60 Wn. App. 504, 513, 514, 803 P.2d 1339 (1991) (citing Glover v. Tacoma Gen. Hosp., 98 Wn.2d 708, 717, 658 P.2d 1230 (1983) (emphasis added). *Chaussee* applies this factor to evaluate the costs of the underlying case (not the future coverage case), and to reduce (not increase) the amount of a reasonable settlement.

The Court of Appeals Opinion suggests that trial courts need the ability to consider the cost of future insurance coverage litigation in order to be consistent with Werlinger v. Warner, 126 Wn. App. 342, 350-51, 109 P.3d 22 (2005), where the court considered a bankruptcy proceeding that pre-dated the underlying lawsuit. Op. at 10-11. Of course, the Werlinger Court was reviewing the sixth Glover factor (the defendant's "ability to pay") based on the bankruptcy of the defendant that predated the underlying case, not the fifth Glover factor ("risk and expense of continued litigation") based on future insurance coverage litigation. In Werlinger, before the underlying plaintiff filed suit, the defendant had already secured a discharge in bankruptcy. 126 Wn. App. at 345. The plaintiff and defendant in the underlying suit then agreed to a \$5 million covenant judgment. Id. This Court ruled that although plaintiff otherwise had "a very strong case," the reasonable settlement value of the case was \$25,000 because "[b]y virtue of the bankruptcy discharge, [defendant] had a complete defense to personal liability [in the underlying case]." Id. at 351. In Werlinger, the Court of Appeals flatly rejected the argument that the covenant judgment should be based on recovery in a future coverage action. As even plaintiffs now acknowledge, Werlinger is consistent with every prior decision in the State of Washington that evaluates the Glover factors exclusively with reference to the merits of underlying case as presented by the parties at the time, not based upon any future insurance coverage litigation.

C. The Award Improperly Awards the Same Damages Twice

As demonstrated by the IFCA notice, should it fail to make this payment within 20 days, USF&G will be subject to the "remedies provided for in the statute, which include recovery of the actual damages sustained, together with the costs of the [insurance coverage] action, including reasonable attorneys' fees and certain litigation costs." USF&G Mot. for Recons. Ex. 1. In short, USF&G may be required to pay plaintiffs for costs of a coverage action (1) as part of the covenant judgment; and (2) again as part of awardable costs and disbursements under *Olympic Steamship Co. v. Centennial Ins. Co.*, 117 Wn.2d 37, 811 P.2d 673 (1991). No Washington decision has gone so far as to award the same litigation expenses twice—once as damages and again as awardable attorney's fees—yet that would be the result if the costs of future insurance coverage litigation can be considered in approving the covenant judgment amount.

D. Alternative, the Case Should be Remanded

As explained above, consistent with existing law, the preferred approach is for the trial court to establish the settlement value of the underlying case, and the new court to determine damages, if any, associated with any potential future coverage litigation. This both accords with Washington law on actual damages and avoids a double recovery. However, at a minimum, even if this Court upholds the trial court's determination that a covenant judgment should include a higher amount to

address future insurance coverage litigation, this case should be remanded to the trial to allocate the covenant judgment amount between the settlement of the underlying case, and the future coverage litigation cost awarded. *See Mayer v. City of Seattle*, 102 Wn. App. 66, 80, 10 P.3d 408 (2000) (abuse of discretion not to segregate out attorneys' fees between claims).

The importance of segregating between actual damages in the underlying case and future cost of the coverage litigation is illustrated by the fact that the future insurance coverage case portion of the covenant judgment potentially represents up to 78% of the total \$4.5 million covenant judgment:

Underlying Settlement Value	Future Coverage Case (\$)	Future Coverage Case (%)
\$1 million [ability to pay]	\$3.5 million	78%
\$2 million [reasonable settlement based on facts of this case]	2.5 million	56%
\$3.5 million ["ridiculous" demand]	\$1 million	22%

VI. CONCLUSION

USF&G respectfully requests discretionary review of the Court of Appeal's decision ruling that it was proper for the trial court to contemplate the risks and costs involved in the future coverage litigation

to evaluate the reasonableness of the proposed covenant judgment awarding actual damages for the underlying action.