FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/1/2020 3:49 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 98434-4

COURT OF APPEALS NO. 79490-6-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

UNITED STATES FIDELITY AND GUARANTEE COMPANY,

Petitioner,

v.

KAREN ULBRICHT, Individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of ROBERT P. ULBRICHT, et al.,

Respondents.

RESPONDENT KAREN ULBRICHT'S RESPONSE TO UNITED STATES FIDELITY AND GUARANTEE COMPANY'S PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Matthew P. Bergman
Justin Olson
BERGMAN DRAPER OSLUND UDO
821 Second Avenue, Suite 2100
Seattle, WA 98104
(T) 206-957-9510

Attorneys for Plaintiffs-Respondents

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

IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

In an unpublished decision, the Court of Appeals unanimously held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in determining that the

covenant judgment amount was reasonable based upon its consideration of all nine *Chaussee* factors. The Court of Appeals did not, as USF&G claims, determine that the trial court awarded as actual damages the costs of a future litigation. See Petition at 1 (claiming that the covenant judgment amount "covers future collection costs as actual damages"), 7 (claiming that the covenant judgment amount "includes the future cost of pursuing the insurance coverage litigation"), 11 ("No Washington decision has gone so far as to award the same litigation expenses twice—once as damages and again as awardable attorney's fees."). This unsupported factual claim is the cornerstone of the petition for discretionary review, yet nowhere is this Court provided a single citation to the Court of Appeals opinion, or the underlying trial court record, demonstrating that the trial court *increased* the amount of the covenant judgment to include future costs of litigation. Absent this factual fiction, USF&G's arguments regarding the unprecedented legal impact of a nonexistent holding are unfounded, and USF&G has failed to meet any of the criteria under RAP 13.4(b)(2)-(4).

A. Trial Courts Review the Reasonableness of Covenant Judgments Using Nine *Chaussee* Factors.

Washington courts have long approved of stipulated judgments accompanied by covenants not to execute in exchange for an assignment

of rights against the defendant's insurers—otherwise known as covenant judgments. *Besel v. Viking Ins. Co.*, 146 Wn.2d 730, 736-37, 49 P.3d 887 (2002); *accord Bird v. Best Plumbing Group, LLC*, 175 Wn.2d 756, 287 P.3d 551 (2002). However, "[a] carrier is liable only for reasonable settlements that are paid in good faith." *Besel*, 146 Wn.2d at 738. Thus, covenant judgments are valid only where the trial court has determined that the covenant judgment is reasonable based upon the totality of the circumstances at the time the agreement was reached. *See* RCW 4.22.060(1); *Besel*, 146 Wn.2d at 738. In making this reasonableness determination, the trial court should consider the following nine elements known as the "*Chaussee* factors":

- 1) The plaintiffs' damages;
- 2) The merits of the plaintiffs' liability theory;
- 3) The merits of the defendant's defense theory;
- 4) The defendant's relative faults;
- 5) The risks and expenses of continued litigation;
- 6) The defendant's ability to pay;
- 7) Whether there is any evidence of bad faith, collusion, or fraud;
- 8) The extent of the plaintiff's investigation and preparation of the case; and
- 9) The interests of the parties not being released.

Besel, 146 Wn.2d at 738 (citing Chaussee v. Maryland Cas. Co., 60 Wn. App. 504, 512, 803 P.2d 1339 (1991)). No single factor is determinative, and not all nine factors are relevant in every case. *Id.* at 739 n.2; Chaussee, 60 Wn. App. at 512.

The Court of Appeals recently clarified that the court views "the process of considering the [Chaussee] factors as sufficient to protect insurers from collusive settlements and excessive judgments if the insurer has notice of the reasonableness hearing and has an opportunity to argue that the settlement is not reasonable." Sykes v. Singh, 5 Wn. App. 2d 721, 728, 428 P.3d 1228, 1235 (2018), review denied, 192 Wn.2d 1025, 435 P.3d 265 (2019) (emphasis supplied). Because a trial court's reasonableness inquiry necessarily involves factual determinations, such findings will not be disturbed on appeal if supported by substantial evidence. Id. Consequently, the trial court's ultimate determination of reasonableness is reviewed for abuse of discretion. Id.

B. Petitioner's Citation to the Record is Misleading and Incomplete.

RAP 13.4(b) provides the exclusive circumstances by which this Court will accept discretionary review. None of the four tests permit the petitioner to mischaracterize the evidentiary record as found by the trial court and affirmed by the Court of Appeals. Indeed, most of the factual

findings supporting the trial court's determination of reasonableness went unchallenged by USF&G, as the Court of Appeals observed. App. at 12 (holding that the reasonableness ruling could still be independently affirmed on the basis of "any number of the unchallenged findings and conclusions"). The Court of Appeals examined the evidentiary record on review and set forth the facts in its opinion based upon the trial court's written findings of fact, which when supported by substantial evidence are not disturbed on appeal. App. at 3-6. Nowhere did the Court of Appeals indicate that the trial court increased the covenant judgment amount to include future attorney fees and costs of bad faith litigation, as USF&G boldly claims. Petition at 6. Rather the *parties* agreed to the covenant judgment amount and the trial court, applying all nine of the *Chaussee* factors, deemed the amount to be reasonable. The Court of Appeals found no abuse of discretion and even noted that the unchallenged findings and conclusions were sufficient to affirm the reasonableness determination.

The sole factual basis cited by USF&G to support its interpretation of the covenant judgment amount arises from the trial court's Conclusion of Law No. 23, which USF&G quotes partially and out of context.

Petition at 6 (citing CP 1199). The full language of Conclusion of Law 23 is as follows:

While covenant judgments and settlements overlap in many ways, they are nevertheless separate and distinct agreements that cannot be referred to interchangeably. Although the covenant judgment in this case alleviated PM Northwest's risk of continued litigation, the contingent nature of the recovery under its insurance assignment ensured that Plaintiffs would undertake additional risk that would not have been presented by a monetary settlement. In order to obtain any recovery from PM Northwest's insurers, Plaintiffs will have to prosecute a collateral insurance coverage action to a successful conclusion. In adjudicating the reasonableness of the \$4.5 million covenant judgment entered in the case, the Court must consider the possibility that Plaintiffs may recover nothing from PM Northwest's insurers. The contingent nature of the settlement in this case justifies a larger covenant judgment amount than would be reasonable if PM Northwest and Plaintiffs had entered into a cash settlement with sure payment on a date certain.

CP 1199 (emphasis supplied). Addressing this Conclusion of Law, the Court of Appeals rejected USF&G's interpretation and noted that the trial court made six conclusions under the "risks and expenses of continued litigation" factor and considered the reasonableness of the covenant judgment holistically. App. at 10. USF&G's interpretation of the trial court's holding is not found anywhere in the record or in the Court of Appeals opinion.

Apart from this key misrepresentation of the trial court's factual findings, USF&G includes numerous other claims with citations not before this Court. For example, USF&G suggests (without any citation to the record) that the Ulbrichts "believed that despite the lack of evidence

linking PM Northwest to his exposure to asbestos, through expert testimony, he could establish a link." Petition at 3. This peculiar mischaracterization of the evidentiary record was rejected both by the trial court and by the Court of Appeals. *See* App. at 3-4 (defense counsel believed the lack of causal link defense was "not very good"). USF&G also claims that the "Ulbricht plaintiffs belatedly concede [that] the award of future insurance coverage fees/costs as part of defendant's damages is unprecedented," citing to a Hayes declaration that is not before this Court. Petition at 9.1 No such concession was made because future litigation costs were not, in fact, added to the covenant judgment amount by the trial court. Finally, USF&G cites to various portions of the Clerk's Papers to again relitigate its view of the facts, rather than cite the findings of fact entered by the trial court or the factual recitation set forth by the Court of Appeals. Petition at 3-6.

It is well-settled that this Court will not consider arguments that are "not supported by any reference to the record nor by any citation of authority." *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809,

-

¹ Along with the Hayes declaration, USF&G cites to numerous documents that were not included with its petition, including a motion for reconsideration (Petition at 7, 11) and a motion to publish the Court of Appeals opinion (Petition at 6). RAP 13.4(c)(9) provides that the appendix for a petition for discretionary review should contain only a copy of the Court of Appeals decision, a copy of the order denying a motion for reconsideration, and copies of statutes or constitutional provisions relevant to the issues presented for review. Inasmuch as USF&G cites to information outside its own appendix, the Court should not attempt to divine the content and context of these filings to adjudicate this petition.

828 P.2d 549 (1992) (citing RAP 10.3(a)(5); *McKee v. Am. Home Prods.*, Corp., 113 Wn.2d 701, 705, 782 P.2d 1045 (1989)). RAP 13.4 provides the precise record that should govern whether to accept discretionary review "under one or more of the tests established in section (b)." Here, USF&G's petition for discretionary review is a cavalcade of unsupported factual claims that flatly ignore the established evidentiary record within the Court of Appeals opinion.

C. The Court of Appeals' Unpublished Opinion Does Not Conflict with Any Published Decisions.

USF&G argues that the appellate court's analysis of the "risks and expenses of continued litigation" factor conflicts with *Chaussee v.*Maryland Casualty Company. Petition at 9-10 (citing Chaussee, 60 Wn. App. at 513). The Court of Appeals held that it was not an abuse of discretion for the trial court to "contemplate the risks and costs involved when evaluating the reasonableness of the proposed covenant judgment." App. at 10. USF&G argues that the Chaussee court expressly limited this factor to only the underlying litigation and only to reduce the amount of a covenant judgment. Petition at 9. This is an incorrect reading of the law.

In *Chaussee*, the trial court relied upon evidence presented in a summary judgment motion to determine whether the underlying covenant judgment amount was reasonable. *Chaussee*, 60 Wn. App. at 513. The

court did not hold that the amount of the covenant judgment was unreasonable, as USF&G claims. Petition at 9. Rather, the court noted simply that the trial court did not consider each of the nine factors and thus its determination was not, in and of itself, evidence of reasonableness. *Chaussee*, 60 Wn. App. at 513 ("Although the settlement was judicially approved ... we do not believe this determination alone was sufficient."). Under the particular facts of *Chaussee*, the trial court should have considered "the risk and cost of proceeding to trial." *Id.* The Court of Appeals did not hold, as USF&G claims, that this factor is *limited* to trial in the underlying case. Moreover, the Court noted that this factor "may serve to reduce the amount of a settlement." *Id.* (emphasis supplied). It did not hold, again as USF&G claims, that this factor applies only "to reduce (not increase) the amount of a reasonable settlement." Petition at 9. The Court of Appeals opinion is not in conflict with *Chaussee*.

Further, the unpublished opinion does not conflict with the holding in *Werlinger v. Warner*, 126 Wn. App. 341, 350-51, 109 P.3d 22 (2005). USF&G argues that in considering the bankruptcy of the defendant, the *Werlinger* court based its holding on the sixth *Chaussee* factor, the defendant's ability to pay, and not on the risk and expense of continued litigation. Petition at 10. However, there is no support for this argument contained in the language of the opinion.

In Werlinger, the trial court held that a \$5 million covenant judgment amount was unreasonable after having been briefed on all nine of the Chaussee factors. Werlinger, 126 Wn. App. at 347. Instead, the court entered judgment in the amount of \$25,000, which had been previously paid by the defendant's insurance carrier after the insurer properly defended its insured. *Id.* at 347, 351. The court noted that not every *Chaussee* factor is relevant in every case and held that the liability and damages factors "were not relevant in view of the fact that not a penny could ever be collected from Warner personally." *Id.* at 351. However, the court did not indicate precisely which factor it relied on when considering the defendant's bankruptcy. Certainly a bankruptcy may affect a defendant's *ability* to pay a future judgment, but the legal immunity of the bankruptcy proceedings themselves created an absolute defense to liability, which is better categorized as a risk of continued litigation—e.g., that the defendant faced no risk whatsoever in the underlying trial and the plaintiff faced an insurmountable risk in future bad faith litigation. The Court of Appeals opinion does not conflict the language and holding of Werlinger.

Finally, it is not accurate to suggest that "every prior decision in the State of Washington ... evaluates the [*Chaussee*] factors exclusively with reference to the merits of [the] underlying case as presented by the

parties, not based upon any future insurance coverage litigation." Petition at 10. Numerous other Washington courts weighing the *Chaussee* factors have recognized the risks attendant to the plaintiff in securing later recovery on the covenant judgment. See, e.g., Sykes v. Singh, 5 Wn. App. 2d 721, 736, 428 P.3d 1228 (2018), review denied, 192 Wn.2d 1025, 435 P.3d 265 (2019) (discussing the risk of the jury in a later action finding that the insurer did not act in bad faith); Werlinger, 126 Wn. App. at 350-51 (holding that the trial court was obliged to "keep[] in mind that the sole purpose of the covenant judgment was to serve as the presumptive measure of damages in a separate bad faith lawsuit"); Heights at Issaquah Ridge Owners Ass'n v. Derus Wakefield I, LLC, 145 Wn. App. 698, 706, 187 P.3d 306 (2008) (same). Indeed, the Court of Appeals in Werlinger recognized that a covenant judgment can be reasonable per se in a case where, as here, the insurer breached its duty to defend or otherwise wrongfully exposed its insured to bankruptcy. Werlinger, 126 Wn. App. at 350. In its petition for discretionary review, USF&G makes no reference whatsoever to either Sykes or Issaquah Ridge. USF&G has failed to demonstrate that discretionary review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

D. The Court of Appeals' Unpublished Opinion Does Not Raise a Significant Question of Law Under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States.

There exists no argument whatsoever in USF&G's petition, apart from a cursory citation of the most offhand nature, that the Court of Appeals decision implicates the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States. RAP 13.4(b)(3). Neither are cited anywhere throughout the petition, and even RAP 13.4(b) is cited just once in the introductory paragraph. Petition at 1. Such an absence of discussion is peculiar inasmuch as the rule provides the only bases by which discretionary review may be granted. "Where no authorities are cited in support of a proposition, the court is not required to search out authorities, but may assume that counsel, after diligent search, has found none."

DeHeer v. Seattle Post-Intelligencer, 60 Wn.2d 122, 126, 372 P.2d 193 (1962). USF&G has failed to demonstrate that discretionary review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

E. USF&G's Unsupported View of the Covenant Judgment Does Not Raise an Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

"Painting a pumpkin green and calling it a watermelon will not render its contents sweet and juicy." *Arruda v. Sears, Roebuck & Co.*, 310 F.3d 13, 24 (1st Cir.2002). As discussed above, nowhere did the Court of Appeals determine that the covenant judgment amount included an

allocation of future litigation costs. Instead, the court simply recognized that covenant judgments are distinct from settlements and that plaintiffs entering into a covenant judgment agreement must necessarily contemplate the risks of future coverage litigation. App. at 10. The trial court made no effort to calculate future litigation costs. Instead, the trial court simply acknowledged the undisputable fact that, unlike a cash settlement, the coverage action necessitated by a covenant judgment agreement may result in no recovery whatsoever and that this risk was a valid consideration in assessing the reasonableness of the covenant judgment amount. The Court of Appeals agreed with Conclusion of Law No. 23, observing that "Washington courts recognize that covenant judgments are distinct from settlements." App. at 9 (citing Bird v. Best Plumbing Grp., LLC, 175 Wn.2d 756, 765, 287 P.3d 551 (2012); Besel v. Viking Ins. Co., 146 Wn.2d 730, 738, 49 P.3d 887 (2002)). Indeed, the trial court did not abuse its discretion "by considering the future bad faith litigation that would be necessary to enforce the covenant judgment." App. at 10.

Consequently, USF&G's suggestion that the future litigation costs are found in the difference between the "underlying settlement value" and the covenant judgment amount is entirely unsupported by both the

evidentiary record and the case law. Petition at 12.² The Court of Appeals explained not only how settlement discussions are not determinative of the *Chaussee* reasonableness determination, App. at 8, but also how the many changes to the case since the failed mediation increased the likely amount of a verdict at trial. App. at 5 ("Between this July 18th mediation and an August 1st meeting of counsel, much had worsened as to PM Northwest's prospects at trial."). Accordingly, the covenant judgment amount represented "the possible verdicts contemplated by both parties." App. at 10. It did not contemplate or attempt to calculate the costs of future litigation, and because of that, there is no basis to remand this matter to establish an amount of future litigation costs that were not included in the first instance.

USF&G points to the Ulbrichts' subsequent notice under the Insurance Fair Conduct Act (IFCA), RCW 48.30.015, as an attempt to make a double recovery, but this argument also fails. Because the covenant judgment amount did *not* include a calculation of future litigation costs, there will not be an "award [of] the same litigation expenses twice." Petition at 11. Rather, the covenant judgment represents

² USF&G's petition contains a table purporting to calculate the portion of the covenant judgment that represents future litigation costs by comparing prior settlement discussions to the final covenant judgment amount. This table has no citation to any evidentiary support in the record.

the actual damages incurred by PM Northwest and serves as the presumptive measure of damages in the future bad faith litigation.

W. Beach Condo. v. Commonwealth Ins. Co. of Am., 11 Wn. App. 2d 791, 455 P.3d 1193 (2020); Miller v. Kenney, 180 Wn. App. 772, 802, 325 P.3d 278 (2014); see also App. at 9 (citing Besel, 146 Wn.2d at 738). IFCA expressly permits the Ulbrichts to pursue an action to recover the actual damages incurred as a result of USF&G's unreasonable denial of coverage, "together with the costs of the action, including reasonable attorneys' fees and litigation costs." RCW 48.30.015(1). Of course, if the Ulbrichts succeed in their IFCA claim, the court overseeing the case can certainly review the reasonableness of their attorney fee claim and adjust its award as necessary to avoid double recovery or unnecessary work.

To be sure, if the trial court had increased the amount of the covenant judgment to award future speculative attorneys' fees and costs, USF&G's petition might have merit. But that did not occur. Rather, the trial court holistically considered the uncertain outcome of a future coverage action in association with the other eight *Chaussee* reasonableness factors for which there exists overwhelming factual support. The Ulbrichts' IFCA notice is not a smoking gun placing the petitioner in an "untenable situation" but is the predictable and statutorily required step in the Ulbrichts' ongoing attempt to recover from this insurer

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